# In the Supreme Court of the State of California

THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

٧.

JOSE SAUCEDA-CONTRERAS,

Defendant and Appellant.

Case No. S191747

SUPREME COURT

AUG 29 2011

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

Deputy

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Case No. G041831
Orange County Superior Court, Case No. 07NF0170
The Honorable Richard F. Toohey, Judge

**OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS** 

KAMALA D. HARRIS
Attorney General of California
DANE R. GILLETTE
Chief Assistant Attorney General

GARY W. SCHONS

Senior Assistant Attorney General STEVE OETTING

Supervising Deputy Attorney General

MARILYN L. GEORGE

Deputy Attorney General

#### ISSUES IN THE GRANT OF REVIEW

- 1. After defendant had been given his *Miranda¹* rights, did his statement "If you can bring me a lawyer . . . that way I can tell you everything that I know and everything that I need to tell you and someone to represent me" constitute a clear invocation of his right to counsel that required questioning to cease and did not permit the interrogating officers to attempt to clarify what defendant meant?
- 2. Was any error in the admission of defendant's subsequent statements harmless beyond a reasonable doubt?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In an information filed by the Orange County District Attorney on November 2, 2007, defendant, Jose Sauceda-Contreras, was charged with murdering Martha Patricia Mendoza, in violation of Penal Code section 187, subdivision (a). (2 CT 308-309.)

Defendant's jury trial commenced on November 11, 2008. (2 CT 419.) On November 12, 2008, defendant's trial counsel made a verbal motion to suppress defendant's interview with police pursuant to *Miranda v. Arizona, supra*, 384 U.S. 436. Relying upon an English transcript of the interview that had been translated from Spanish, and viewing the DVD of the interview, the trial court denied the motion after it found defendant had been appropriately advised of his rights pursuant to *Miranda* and had knowingly and intelligently waived those rights. (2 CT 422; 1 RT 72.)

After the People rested their case, the trial court denied defendant's motion for a judgment of acquittal pursuant to Penal Code section 1118.1.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436 [16 L.Ed.2d 694, 86 S.Ct. 1602].

(2 CT 439.) On November 26, 2008, the jury found defendant guilty of murder in the first degree. (2 CT 453, 513.) On March 13, 2009, defendant was sentenced to 25 years to life in prison. (2 CT 568.)

Defendant's opening brief on appeal was filed on December 11, 2009. Among the issues raised on appeal were the claims that defendant's conviction should be reversed because the police ignored the "unequivocal invocation of his rights to counsel and silence" after he was advised of his rights under *Miranda*. (AOB 25-43.) Defendant also argued insufficient evidence was introduced to prove he caused the death of Mendoza (AOB 56-65), and that his first degree murder conviction should be reduced because no evidence was presented that supported a finding of premeditation and deliberation. (AOB 66-80.)

In an unpublished opinion filed on February 16, 2011, Division Three of the Fourth Appellate District reversed defendant's first degree murder conviction. The majority of the panel found a *Miranda* violation occurred when the police officer acting as a Spanish language interpreter for defendant and a homicide detective repeated her question as to whether defendant was willing to talk to the detective "right now." The majority found defendant's initial response of, "If you can bring me a lawyer... that way I can tell you everything that I know and everything that I need to tell you and someone to represent me," was a clear invocation of his right to counsel, which the officer should have recognized, and therefore the officer should have immediately ended the custodial interview. (Opn. at p. 19.) The majority also found the admission of the interview was not harmless error because without defendant's incriminating statements, "the evidence of his guilt consisted of a couple of threats and him burning Mendoza's body." (Opn. at pp. 22-23.)

The third Justice on the panel, Justice Aronson, filed a dissenting opinion in which he found defendant's initial response had actually been a

question as to whether the police could bring him an attorney "right now." Justice Aronson also found that since defendant had not indicated he wanted to remain silent or did not want to talk to the police, the officer had properly asked him a non-coercive follow-up question "to resolve whether [defendant] wanted to invoke his right to cut off questioning altogether or waive his right to counsel and proceed with the interview." (Dis. at pp. 1-2.)

Respondent filed a petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeal on March 3, 2011, and offered a third possible interpretation or meaning for defendant's initial response. Based upon the wording of that response, defendant may have believed the presence of an attorney was required in order for him to be able to talk to the detective. (Petn. Rehg. at p. 2.)

The Court of Appeal denied the petition for rehearing. Justice Aronson was of the opinion the petition for rehearing should have been granted. (Order filed March 17, 2011.)

On June 8, 2011, this Court granted respondent's petition for review.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

# A. The Discovery Of Martha Mendoza's Burning Body

On January 10, 2007, Alondra Gaona Gutierrez was living with her family in a house in the City of Anaheim. At 10:30 or 11:00 that morning, Gutierrez smelled the odor of burning hair. About ten minutes later, Gutierrez smelled the odor of burning flesh. (1 RT 111-113.) Gutierrez called out to her husband, Pascuel Rivera Rodriguez, who was working in the garage, as she started searching for the source of the fire. Gutierrez climbed a short ladder on a child's play set in their back yard and saw smoke rising from the other side of the back fence. She then climbed a taller ladder on the opposite side of the play set that allowed her to see over the fence and into the back yard of the yellow house directly behind her

house. Gutierrez saw a large metal can with what looked like a black ball protruding from it. Flames and smoke were coming from the can. A man standing next to the can was pouring liquid onto the fire, which made the flames rise higher. Gutierrez saw the man bend something that looked like an arm back down into the can. (1 RT 114-116, 137.) There was a mattress propped against a wall on one side of the can, and a large yellow cover to a hot tub on the other side of the can. Gutierrez called out to her husband again and told him to hurry. When her husband got to the back yard, he climbed up the ladder and looked over the fence. They decided to call the fire department. (1 RT 117-120.)

One day earlier, at approximately 2:00 in the afternoon, Gutierrez had heard a man and a woman at the same house arguing with each other. Gutierrez heard the woman say something to the man about how if he did not have money to give her, to let her go get the money herself. (1 RT 120-122.) Gutierrez next heard what sounded like a person hitting a wall, followed by the sound of a woman weeping for five or ten minutes. After she heard what sounded like someone hitting a wall, Gutierrez heard the woman say something like, "if this was all that he had to give her more until he got tired." That was all Gutierrez heard because she had to leave to pick her daughter up from school. (1 RT 122-124.)

When Gutierrez was interviewed by the police, she told them she had heard a woman, who was speaking in Spanish, say, "'Fucker, if you don't want me to go out, if you don't want me to go out, you go and bring me that money to pay . . ." She also told the police she later heard a woman weeping. Gutierrez was not able to hear the words the man was saying "because they were low." (1 RT 129-131.) Gutierrez told police it sounded like the woman was outside. (1 RT 134-135.)

Rodriguez smelled the odor of burnt hair when he was in his garage, before he ran to the backyard when his wife called for him. He climbed the ladder on the play set and looked over the fence into the neighbor's back yard. He saw a man pouring something from a two gallon container into a burning metal trash can on a concrete patio. He estimated the metal trash can was 30 feet from his location. (1 RT 137-139.) Rodriguez watched the man for two or three minutes. Every time the liquid was poured into the can, the flames rose higher and forced the man to move back. He also saw a mattress on one side of the can, and a hot tub cover on the other side. (1 RT 140-141.)

Rodriguez decided to get the address of the house for the fire department, so he got into his truck and drove around the block to North Winter Street. As he was getting the address, he saw the man in the back yard peeking out at him from behind a car, which was parked on the side of the house. (1 RT 142-144, 146.) Rodriguez drove back to his own house and called 9-1-1. He told them the fire was behind his neighbor's house, but the fire truck arrived at his house instead. After Rodriguez directed them to the location of the fire, he climbed back up the ladder to watch what was happening. When the firemen arrived at the North Winter Street house, the man put the mattress on top of the burning trash can. Rodriguez identified defendant as the man he had seen pouring liquid into the trash can and peeking out at him from behind the car. (1 RT 147-148.) One day earlier, Rodriguez heard a man and woman at the same house arguing with each other. They were calling each other bad names, so he ushered his children into the house. (1 RT 148-151.)

City of Anaheim Firefighter Kevin Harris was part of a four-person crew dispatched to the fire. They arrived in a fire truck with its lights and siren activated. (1 RT 151-154.) When the fire truck stopped in front of the house at 940 North Winter Street, Harris and his fire partner, Andy Ingram, initially did not see any smoke. They walked past the car parked on the driveway on the side of the house, towards an open gate to the back

yard. (1 RT 155, 230.) When they got to the back corner of the house, they were met by defendant. Harris identified defendant in court. Harris and Ingram were both wearing "yellow color turnout clothing" and fire helmets. (1 RT 155-156.) Harris asked defendant if there was a fire. Defendant told them there was no fire. Harris could see a trash can on the patio with smoke coming from it. When Harris asked defendant what was burning, defendant responded by saying, "Nothing. No problem. No problem, sir." (1 RT 156-157.)

A mattress was leaning over the trash can. In addition to seeing smoke coming from the can, Harris could smell something burning and the odor of gasoline. (1 RT 157.) Harris and Ingram tried to go to the trash can to see what was burning, but they were blocked by defendant. At one point, defendant put his hands out in front of him, and either put them on Harris's chest or held them up in such a way as to prevent him from approaching the can. Harris stopped, but from his location a few feet from the can, he was able to see a flickering flame inside the part of the can not obscured by the mattress. (1 RT 158-159.) At that moment, Fire Captain Strickland came to the back yard and Harris told him they needed police assistance. Strickland let him know they had already been called. (1 RT 160.)

The fire fighters started walking back towards the fire truck, and defendant walked out with them. Speaking in broken English, defendant told them his name and said he was just cooking a pig in the back yard. (1 RT 160, 180.) He said he had lived in the house for several years and was cooking the pig for a large party he was planning. Defendant said he used to cook a pig in the ground in Mexico, but since he could not cook it that way in the United States, he was cooking it in a trash can. He also claimed to have bought the pig in Indio. (1 RT 161-162.) The fire fighters had not told defendant the police were on their way, and it may have appeared to

him that they were about to leave. Defendant stood in his front yard, talking to the fire fighters for five to ten minutes, until the police arrived. (1 RT 162-163.)

Captain Strickland spoke to the police officer before the officer made contact with defendant. At that point, Harris and Ingram returned to the back yard to see what was burning. Ingram moved the mattress and they found a charred towel draped over the top of the can. When Harris lifted the towel, they saw a human skull and a burnt body. The towel and mattress were put back as they were and they left the yard. (1 RT 164-165.) They did not touch or move anything else in the back yard. When they got to the front yard, Harris made eye contact with the police officer standing next to defendant and signaled to him to put handcuffs on him, which the officer did. (1 RT 167-168.)

# B. DNA and Other Physical Evidence

Photographs taken of the house and yard at 940 North Winter Street depicted a Honda parked in the driveway on the side of the house, and a sliding glass door in a bedroom adjacent to the back yard. (1 RT 230-231.) In the back yard, the large metal trash can was partially covered with a box spring, not a mattress, and there was a charred piece of wood next to it on the ground. A pair of workmen's gloves was next to the box spring, and there was another pair of workmen's gloves nearby. A small, charred sauce pan, a metal rod, and a white bucket containing a liquid that smelled like gasoline were next to the metal trash can. Half of a Bud Light can was floating in the liquid. (1 RT 232-236.)

When Anaheim Police Forensic Specialist Terry Powers-Raulston moved the box spring and towel from the trash can, she saw a charred body. The head was above the top rim of the can, and there was a brick propping the body away from one side of the metal can. One brick was missing from a small brick walkway next to the nearby garage. (1 RT 239-241.) Three

large rubber trash bins were on the driveway, next to a wall. Inside one of the bins was a partially melted plastic bottle that smelled like gasoline and had a hair attached to it. (1 RT 243-244.) The garden hose in the back yard had a valve at the end that could be turned to control the flow of water. The handle on the spigot to which the hose was attached was fully open. (1 RT 281.)

Powers-Raulston and another Forensic Specialist processed the interior of the house that evening. Investigating officers directed their attention to a bedroom with a sliding glass door and a bathroom. (1 RT 269-273.) The bedroom was in disarray and the drapes covering the sliding glass doorway were tied in a knot. The mattress was slightly off the box spring and all of the sheets and blankets had been removed from the bed. Some blankets were on a chair in the corner. (1 RT 231, 249.)

The bathroom they processed was directly across the hall from the bedroom. (1 RT 248.) The knob to the door of the bathroom was in the unlocked position and Powers-Raulston did not see any evidence of the door having been forced or pried open, such as scratched paint or pry marks. (1 RT 254, 277-278.) The shower curtain was extended across the bath tub. (1 RT 253; 2 CT 519.) There was a cup inside the bath tub and a small ball of hair was on one corner of the tub. (1 RT 253, 257; 2 CT 520.) A red stain was visible on the bathroom floor. (1 RT 255-256.) Swabs were collected from various places in the bathroom, especially around the tub and sink. While they were processing the scene, the bathtub spout fell from the wall to the lip of the tub. (1 RT 261-262.)

Lastly, the Honda was taken to a tow yard and the steering wheel was swabbed for DNA. (1 RT 267-268.)

The clothing defendant was wearing that day was collected and logged into evidence. (1 RT 209-210.) A dark belt defendant had been wearing on his jeans showed visible wearing near the buckle. There was an

indented line going across the belt that was approximately 11 inches from the end of the buckle. (1 RT 213-214.) Four swabs were taken from the inside of the belt for DNA testing. One swab was taken from next to the buckle. Then belt was divided into three sections and a swab was taken from the inside of each of the three sections along the entire length of the belt. (1 RT 214-216.)

Photographs taken of defendant that day documented injuries to the upper left side of his head, as well as to his nose, upper lip, neck, chest, and left and right hands. (1 RT 219-221; 2 CT 516 [People's Exhib. Nos. 9 A-F].) Gasoline was detected on the blue jeans defendant had been wearing that day. (2 RT 310-311.) No accelerant was detected on swabs taken from defendant's hands. (2 RT 312.)

Forensic Scientist Annette McCall conducted the DNA analyses on the swabs collected in this matter and compared the results to the DNA profiles of defendant and Martha Mendoza.<sup>2</sup> (2 RT 379-386.) The chances of anyone other than defendant being the source of the DNA found on the steering wheel of the Honda was one in one trillion. (2 RT 386-387.)

A presumptive test of a swab from the floor of the bathroom was positive for blood. Testing established Mendoza was a major contributor to the mixed sample of DNA of the swab from the floor. A possible explanation for the mixed DNA sample could be other people walking barefoot on the floor. (2 RT 387-389.) There was too little DNA on one of the six swabs collected from the bathtub to measure, but the other five swabs all contained a mixture of DNA profiles. Defendant was a contributor to one of the swabs of the tub, and Mendoza was a possible

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The parties stipulated the DNA profiles used as the known DNA profiles of defendant and Mendoza were in fact from defendant and Mendoza. (2 RT 436-437; 2 CT 437.)

contributor to another swab. Both defendant and Mendoza were eliminated as contributors to the four remaining swabs from the tub. (2 RT 389-391.)

The swab from the inside of the first segment of the belt closest to the buckle was a mixed sample. Mendoza was a major contributor to that sample, and defendant was a minor contributor. (2 RT 394-395.) There was insufficient DNA on the middle third of the belt to be tested. A mixed sample of DNA from the last third of the belt came from both defendant and Mendoza, who were "pretty much equal contributors." (2 RT 395-396.)

A sample of defendant's blood was drawn after he was arrested. The blood was negative for drugs and alcohol. (2 RT 438.)

## C. Post Mortem of Martha Mendoza's Body

Dr. Anthony Juguilon, a board certified forensic pathologist contracted to perform autopsies for Orange County, conducted the post mortem examination of the body of Martha Mendoza on January 11, 2007, the day after the body was discovered. The body had been transported to the coroner's office inside the trash can. (2 RT 314-318.) After the body was moved from the can and placed on the autopsy table, Dr. Juguilon visually examined the outside of the body. Almost all of the skin had been burned away and "thermal injuries" extended down to the muscles, and, in some places, the bones. The bones of the right hand were mostly incinerated. Dr. Juguilon was able to determine the body was that of a female from the external examination, but it had been "fairly difficult" to do so. The "vast majority" of the scalp and skin on the head had been incinerated, and the scalp had thermal fractures that were typical in victims of fire. (2 RT 319-320.) There were also thermal fractures on the extremities and ribs. While burning generally made it more difficult to pinpoint a cause and manner of death, Dr. Juguilon "could say with a fair

degree of confidence" that Mendoza was dead before her body was burned. (2 RT 321-323.)

Mendoza had not died of natural causes. No stab wounds or gunshot wounds were found on the body, nor was there any evidence of blunt force trauma. (2 RT 323-324.) Dr. Juguilon looked for indicia of hanging or strangulation, such as a furrow on the skin of the neck, but he was unable to make any kind of determination because all of the tissue had been burned away. He could not look for petechial hemorrhages in the eyes because the eyes had also been severely damaged by the fire. There was no evidence of suicidal hanging, but that, and ligature strangulation, could not be ruled out. (2 RT 324-327.) The hyoid bone and the thyroid cartilage were undamaged. A broken hyoid bone and/or damage to the thyroid cartilage were commonly seen in manual strangulations, but not in ligature strangulations or hanging. (2 RT 352-354.)

Blood and tissue samples of the brain and liver were taken and sent to the lab for analysis. The blood, which had been collected from the heart, had too much thermal damage for any accurate tests to be performed. (2 RT 327, 329.) The tissue samples from the brain and liver were positive for methamphetamine and amphetamine. While the levels of the drugs were elevated, the tissues had been altered by the fire, which, in turn, altered the levels of the drugs. (2 RT 328-329.) Because of the thermal damage caused by the fire, Dr. Juguilon could not find the cause of death, so he listed it as undetermined. (2 RT 330-331.) Dr. Juguilon was also unable to make a determination as to the manner of death. (2 RT 345-346.)

The level of amphetamine in the brain was 1.3 milligrams, and the level of methamphetamine in the brain was 5.3 milligrams. In the liver, there were 2.0 milligrams of amphetamine, and 6.8 milligrams of methamphetamine. Since the methamphetamine levels were higher, the amphetamine detected in the organs was probably a metabolite of the

methamphetamine. In the absence of the thermal injuries, that amount of methamphetamine "likely could be the cause of death," because it was a fatal level. (2 RT 363-366.) However, because the thermal damage dramatically altered the toxicology results, it was impossible to determine the ante mortem level of methamphetamine in Mendoza's body. (2 RT 370.)

# D. Defendant's Controlling Behavior Toward Martha Mendoza

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