IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

	THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF)
i.	CALIFORNIA,) Supreme Court No.
•	Plaintiff and Respondent,) S191747
	er e)
	V.) Court of Appeal No.
	·) G041831
	JOSE SAUCEDA-CONTRERAS,)
	Defendant and Appellant.) Superior Court No.
) 07NF0170

Fourth Appellate District, Division Three Orange County Superior Court, Honorable Richard F. Toohey, Judge

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERIT LED

NOV 1 4 2011

Diane Nichols State Bar No. St

P.O. Box 2194 Deputy Grass Valley CA 95945 530-477-8448

dianelnichols@aol.com

Attorney for Defendant And Appellant Jose Sauceda-Contreras

By appointment of the Supreme Court under the Appellate Defenders, Inc. independent case system

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

Respondent claims clarification was necessary based on Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's postrequest responses to Trapp. (RBOM 19, 26-27.) So does the dissent in the Court of Appeal, which relied upon Trapp's slight modification of her question, adding whether Mr. Sauceda-Contreras was willing to speak to police "right now without a lawyer present." (Typed opn., pp. 1-2 (dis. opn.).) However, "postrequest responses to further interrogation may not be used to cast retrospective doubt on the clarity of the initial request itself." (Smith v. Illinois, supra, 469 U.S. at p. 100.) The interrogator cannot proceed "on his own terms and as if the defendant had requested nothing, in the hope that the defendant might be induced to saying something casting retrospective doubt on the clarity of his initial statement." (Id. at p. 99.) Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's initial invocation was clear, and respondent cannot rely upon postrequest responses to make his invocation look unclear.

Rather than scrupulously honoring his right to cut off questioning,
Trapp continued to question Mr. Sauceda-Contreras, telling him "O.K.
maybe you did not understand your rights correctly." (Court's Exhibit Nos.
1C, 1B.) Mr. Sauceda-Contreras had fully understood his right to have an
attorney present, as he had just demonstrated by asking for the presence of
one. However, Trapp explicitly questioned the accuracy of his
understanding of his rights and implicitly challenged the correctness of his
exercise of those rights. Had Trapp actually believed he did not understand

his rights, she would have explained those rights to him again, rather than telling him he did not understand and then asking him the same question slightly rephrased. This was not clarification, but gamesmanship. Trapp clarified nothing except her desire to have Mr. Sauceda-Contreras continue the interrogation. After her correction and re-questioning of him, Mr. Sauceda-Contreras would have been under the impression that, because his initial understanding of the right to an attorney and his exercise of that right had been questioned by authorities as incorrect, he must have wrongly understood and exercised his rights.

One purpose of the *Miranda-Edwards* guarantee is to protect "the suspect's desire to deal with the police only through counsel." (*People v. Gonzalez, supra*, 34 Cal.4th at p. 1123.) Thus, although Mr. Sauceda-Contreras had communicated his "desire for the assistance of an attorney in dealing with custodial interrogation by the police" (*McNeil v. Wisconsin*, supra, 501 U.S. at p. 176), Trapp challenged his decision by telling him he did not correctly comprehended his rights, which was also a way of telling him he had not correctly exercised his rights.

There is no ambiguity here based on uncertainty, no prefacing of his request with "I think," "maybe," "perhaps," or "I reckon." (*Davis, supra*, 512 U.S. at p. 462 ["maybe I should talk to a lawyer" ambiguous]; *People v. Stitely* (2005) 35 Cal.4th 514, 533 ["I think it's about time for me to stop talking" ambiguous].) There is no ambiguity here based on confusion, such

as asking for advice. (*People v. Roquemore* (2005) 131 Cal.App.4th 11, 23 ["Can I call a lawyer or my mom to talk to you?" ambiguous].) There is no ambiguity here based on expressing frustration. (*People v. Stitely, supra,* 35 Cal.4th at p. 535 ["I think it's about time for me to stop talking" ambiguous].) There is no ambiguity here based on indecisiveness. (*People v. Scaffidi* (1992) 11 Cal.App.4th 145, 155 ["There wouldn't be (an attorney) running around here now, would there . . . I just don't know what to do" ambiguous in context of previous assertion he wanted to confess].)

Here, the police failed to cut off questioning. The Supreme Court created a bright-line rule that "all questions must cease" immediately after an accused asserts his rights under Miranda. (Smith v. Illinois, supra, 469 U.S. at p. 98 [105 S.Ct. 490, 83 L.Ed.2d 488], emphasis original; *Fare v*. Michael C. (1979) 442 U.S. 709, 719 [99 S.Ct. 2560, 61 L.Ed.2d 197] [describing rule as "rigid"].) The interrogators are not allowed to ask further questions until the accused has an attorney present, once the accused has asked for counsel. Interrogators are not permitted to ask just a few more questions or test a defendant's invocation; all questioning must come to an end at once. The critical safeguard of *Miranda* is that interrogation immediately conclude upon invocation. (Michigan v. Mosley (1975) 423 U.S. 96, 103 [96 S.Ct. 321, 46 L.Ed.2d 313].) The admissibility of statements taken after invocation depends on whether the "right to cut off questioning" has been "scrupulously honored." (*Id.* at p. 104.) Here, Mr.

Sauceda-Contreras invoked his right to counsel, and his right to silence in the absence of counsel, but interrogators did not end questioning.

The requirement that the police cease interrogation without an attorney's presence following a suspect's invocation of the right to counsel, is premised on the belief that more questioning at that point is coercive, even if the questioning is about the suspect's *Miranda* rights. The requirement that questioning cease prevents "police from badgering a defendant into waiving his previously asserted Miranda rights." (Michigan v. Harvey, supra, 494 U.S. 344, 350; see also People v. Crittenden (1994) 9 Cal.4th 83, 128.) Such coercion need not amount to harassing the defendant; Miranda acknowledges the possibility of "subtle" coercion. (384 U.S. at pp. 473-474.) When the initial response is an invocation, any change of mind results in a valid waiver only if officers have not improperly cajoled the waiver. In People v. Marshall (1990) 50 Cal.3d 907, the suspect initially invoked the right to counsel but *immediately* changed his mind without intervention by police. (Id. at p. 925.) Thus, under those circumstances, it was acceptable under Miranda for officers to take a waiver and then to interrogate. (*Ibid.*) Here, the police persisted after Mr. Sauceda-Contreras had invoked his rights, and Mr. Sauceda-Contreras did not independently change his mind. Trapp did not honor Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's clear request, but prevailed upon him, telling him "Okay, perhaps you didn't understand your rights," i.e., his invocation of

his right meant he must not have understood his rights and implying that, otherwise he would, of course, have agreed to talk to police without an attorney. This was cajolery and overreaching. Mr. Sauceda-Contreras did not change his mind of his own accord; rather any change of mind was the result of the unwarranted police perseverance and refusal to honor his invocation. Trapp improperly persisted, and Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's subsequent accession to her repeated requests was not knowing, intelligent, and voluntary.

3. Mr. Sauceda-Contreras did not expressly waive any of his *Miranda* rights.

Here, respondent misleadingly claims that the interrogator asked for an express waiver of his rights when it says "[w]hen defendant was asked if he was willing to give up those rights and talk to the detective"

(RBOM 19.) Police never explicitly asked Mr. Sauceda-Contreras whether he was waiving or willing to give up either his right to counsel or his right to silence or even whether he was willing to waive his "Miranda rights."

Police never requested or obtained an express waiver before or after his invocation.

Respondent has not met its "heavy burden" of showing an express waiver, nor could respondent do so on these facts. Respondent appears to be relying upon an implied waiver by Mr. Sauceda-Contreras.

4. Mr. Sauceda-Contreras did not impliedly waive any of his *Miranda* rights.

Miranda required an express waiver of the rights to counsel and to silence. (384 U.S. at pp. 475-476.) Subsequent cases accepted an implied waiver of those rights, under certain limited circumstances. (Butler, supra, 441 U.S. at pp. 375-376; People v. Whitson (1998) 17 Cal.4th 229, 247-248.) There is a presumption the defendant did not waive his rights, but in some cases waiver can be "clearly inferred" from the defendant's actions and words, but the government must still prove the waiver was knowing, intelligent, and voluntary. (Butler, supra, 441 U.S. at p. 373.) Despite respondent's reliance on implied waiver, however, respondent does not discuss the concept nor meet its "heavy burden" of showing that there was a valid implied waiver.

The waiver must be both knowing and intelligent and voluntary, two distinct components. (*Moran*, *supra*, 475 U.S. at p. 421.) The issue of waiver is determined on "the particular facts and circumstances surrounding that case, including the background, experience, and conduct of the accused." (*Butler*, *supra*, 441 U.S. at pp. 374-375.) Here, there was no valid implied waiver because the government cannot make an affirmative showing that Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's subsequent agreement to talk to detectives without an attorney present and his doing so constituted a knowing and intelligent and voluntary waiver under the circumstances.

Any implied waiver is not valid because respondent has not shown it was knowing and intelligent. As respondent concedes, Mr. Sauceda-Contreras had a limited education (RBOM 27), which would have limited his ability to understand his rights. Respondent also concedes he spoke "broken English" (RBOM 27) and, although the advisals were given in Spanish, his limited English ability meant his general knowledge of Miranda was more restricted than that of most Americans. There is no evidence that Mr. Sauceda-Contreras was a repeat offender or at all experienced with custodial interrogation and his constitutional rights. As a Mexican national, he would not have been familiar with the American legal system. His comprehension and ability to express himself were certainly limited at times, such as when he had no word for faucet or shower (4 CT 891 ["thing with the water"]) or mouth-to-mouth resuscitation (3 CT 667-668 ["how they put air in the mouth"]. Furthermore, his understanding would have been belied by Trapp's telling him his understanding and exercise were wrong.

Any implied waiver is not valid because respondent has not shown it was voluntary. As a threshold matter, when, as here, a suspect believes he is not capable of undergoing questioning without the guiding hand of counsel, there is a presumption any subsequent waiver is at the authorities' behest. (*Arizona v. Roberson* (1988) 486 U.S. 675, 681 [108 S.Ct. 2093, 100 L.Ed.2d 702].)

Respondent suggests that only coercion or deception renders a Miranda waiver involuntary. (RBOM 31.) Not so. Although Trapp did engage in deception, overreaching is another ground which renders a waiver involuntary. (Colorado v. Connelly (1986) 479 U.S. 157, 170 [107 S.Ct. 515, 93 L.Ed.2d 473] ["voluntariness of a waiver . . . has always depended on the absence of police overreaching"].) In fact, the core purpose of *Miranda* remains the prevention of government overreaching. (United States v. Balsys (1998) 524 U.S. 666, 691-692 [118 S.Ct. 2218, 141 L.Ed.2d 575].) "Overreaching" is "[t]he act or instance of taking unfair . . . advantage of another, esp. by fraudulent means." (Black's Law Dict. (9th ed. 2009) p. 1213, col. 2.) Here, there was deception and overreaching in obtaining any implied waiver. As set forth earlier, Trapp understood Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's request perfectly well, because otherwise her response would have been to say *she* did not understand what he was saying, rather than he did not understand his rights correctly. He had just demonstrated he fully understood his right to have an attorney present by asking for the presence of one. However, Trapp explicitly questioned that understanding and implicitly challenged the correctness of his exercise of those rights. Had Trapp actually believed he did not understand his rights, she would have explained those rights to him again, rather than telling him he did not understand and then asking him the same question slightly rephrased. She weakened his understanding of his rights and undermined his exercise of it.

Although he then acceded to her repeated request, that accession was far from voluntary. Essentially, he gave in to her insistence he did not understand and to her implication that the interrogators expected answers to their questions *now*, regardless of what she may have told him about any rights.

Further, Trapp was not a disinterested translator, but a police detective in her own right. She translated initially, but then gave the *Miranda* advisals and asked related questions on her own, not as Blazek's translator. (Court's Exhibit Nos. 1B, 1C.) The lack of neutrality weighs against voluntariness.

Moreover, because Mr. Sauceda-Contreras was a Mexican national, the detectives should have advised him of his right to speak with a Mexican consular representative before speaking to police. (Vienna Convention on Consular Relations, art. 36; Pen. Code, § 836c.) Although suppression is not a remedy for this violation (*Sanchez-Llamas v. Oregon* (2006) 548 U.S. 331 [126 S.Ct. 2669, 165 L.Ed.2d 557]), such a claim can be raised as part of a broader challenge to the voluntariness of statements to police (*id.* at p. 350). By analogy, police failure to advise Mr. Sauceda-Contreras of his right to consult his consular representation, which is meant to ensure he is fully informed of his legal rights and legal options, tends to further show the waiver was not voluntary.

Respondent has not shown that any implied waiver was valid because it was both knowing and intelligent and voluntary.

E. Conclusion.

Respondent has not met its heavy burden to show an express waiver or a valid implied waiver. Respondent has also failed to show ambiguity in Mr. Sauceda-Contreras's invocation permitting clarification or that police scrupulously honored his invocation. This Court should affirm the decision.

THE COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY FOUND ADMISSION OF THE STATEMENTS WAS NOT HARMLESS BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

Under *Chapman v. California* (1967) 386 U.S. 18 [87 S.Ct. 824, 17 L.Ed.2d 705] ("*Chapman*"), reversal is required unless the government can show that introduction of the erroneously admitted statements was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. (*Id.* at p. 24; *People v. Sims* (1993) 5 Cal.4th 405, 447.) This Court does not determine whether a guilty verdict would have been rendered in a trial without the erroneously admitted statements, but "whether the guilty verdict actually rendered in *this* trial was surely unattributable to the error." (*Sullivan v. Louisiana* (1993) 508 U.S. 275, 279 [113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182], emphasis original.)

The Court of Appeal was right when it found the government had not proven the error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. The case was close. There was no evidence of a definitive cause or manner of death, and there were lethal doses of methamphetamine in Ms. Mendoza's body. The jurors were deeply troubled, as shown by deliberations almost twice as long as evidence presentation. The statements were indispensable to the prosecution's proof and argument. Respondent has failed to carry its

burden to show the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, as it failed in the court below.⁶